A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Petitioner Michael Ames, a state expert witness in criminal 

proceedings involving digital evidence with the Pierce County Sheriff's 

Department, seeks review by the Supreme Court of the published split 

Court of Appeals opinion terminating review referenced in Part B. 

B. COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION 

The Court of Appeals, Division II, filed its published majority and 

dissenting opinions on May 17, 2016. A true and correct copy of both are 

attached as Appendix A pages 1 - 32. 

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

( 1) May a detective use a declaratory judgment action to get a 
name clearing hearing from the prosecutor's office when labeled a 
"Brady" officer for retaliatory reasons? 

(2) Is a detective entitled to the due process protections 
promised in departmental protocols and civil service rules when 
the prosecutor's office prepares questionable accusatory materials 
about the detective outside the internal affairs process? 

(3) Is a dispute between law enforcement and the prosecutor's 
office over the validity of "Brady" materials justiciable for 
purposes of relief under the Uniform Declaratory Judgments Act 
("UDJA")? 

(4) Is it a matter of major public importance whether a criminal 
defendant receive as "Brady" material a detective's unfounded 
whistleblower report against the prosecutor's office as well as 
other declarations prepared by the prosecutor's office that falsely 
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accuse the detective of dishonesty for purposes of relief under the 
UDJA? 

(5) May Superior Court issue a writ of mandate to compel a 
prosecutor to clear the name of a detective labeled dishonest for 
retaliatory reasons? 

(6) May Superior Court issue a writ of prohibition to stop the 
prosecutor from disseminating fabricated "Brady" material 
generated by the prosecutor's office for retaliatory reasons? 

(7) Does a prosecutor's "Brady" obligations require him to 
disseminate false information about a detective's credibility when 
the prosecutor's office fabricates the false information for self 
serving or retaliatory reasons? 

(8) Does the prosecutor's use of an unfounded whistleblower 
complaint against his office as "Brady" material constitute 
impermissible retaliation against the whistleblower detective m 
violation of state and local whistleblower protections? 

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Petitioner Michael Ames is a state witness in criminal cases 

prosecuted in Pierce County, primarily those cases that involve digital 

forensic evidence. 1 He was the exclusive Sheriff's department detective 

certified to examine digital data to testify competently in support of Pierce 

County Sheriff's Department investigations. Pierce County Prosecuting 

Attorney Mark Lindquist decided to discredit Detective Ames using 

materials the prosecutor's office fabricated then disseminated later as 

I Op. 2 
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"Brady" material to protect the prosecutor's office.2 The purported 

potential impeachment evidence ("PIE") includes statements from Ames 

and civil and criminal prosecuting attorneys. 3 The prosecutor's relentless 

attacks on Ames' integrity ultimately caused Detective Ames' constructive 

discharge effective May lOth, 2014.4 After the trial court denied equitable 

relief in this matter, Ames pursued alternative relief because defendants 

refused his requests for a name clearing hearing and otherwise defended 

this declaratory judgment action and writ case on the grounds that the 

proper relief for Ames was a tort action or a civil rights Section 1983 

claim. 5 Ames filed these other remedies, but defendants removed Ames' 

damages case to Federal Court and immediately moved to dismiss on 

immunity grounds. 6 

Presently, Pierce County has denied Ames a remedy of any kind to 

clear his name and restore his ability to work as a witness on those 

criminal cases still pending in the system and alternatively as an expert 

2 Dalsing v. Pierce County, 189 Wn. App. 1024, (2015). 
3 Op. 2; CP 141-142 (Penner 9/18/13 PIE Ltr); 449-485 (Coopersmith Rept.); CP 545 
-575 (Ames' Decs.); CP 576-582 (Richmond 7/17/13 Dalsing Dec.); (Penner 8/12/14 PIE 
Ltr); (Ames Statement to Coopersmith); CP 1594- 1616 (Lewis 5/12/14 Dec. in Ames); 
CP 1617- 1640 (Kooiman 5/12/14 Dec. in Ames); CP 1587- 1589; App. B 
4 Dkt. 24: First Amended Complaint, Ames v. Lindquist, U.S. Dist. Crt. W. Dist. of Wash. 
ECF: 3: 16-cv-05090 filed 2/5/16. 
5 Br. of Respondent/cross-Appellant at 24. 
6 Ames v. Lindquist, U.S. Dist. Ct. W. Dist. of Wash. ECF: 3:16-cv-05090 filed 2/5/16. 
Defendants' Motion to Dismiss noted June 10, 2016. 
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witness in civil matters. The Supreme Court court should accept review to 

ensure law enforcement officers like Detective Ames have a viable means 

to seek prompt redress to prevent ongoing harm to their property interests 

in their career and liberty or privacy interests in their reputation when the 

prosecutor's office decides to discredit the officer for testifying against the 

prosecutors' interests. 

Exculpatory E-Mail- Dalsing7 

The prosecutor's animus towards Ames arose in part when the 

detective's professional duties were shown to conflict with the 

prosecutor's office directives in the Lynn Dalsing wrongful incarceration 

and arrest case. 8 Civil deputy prosecutor James Richmond filed a 

contradictory declaration accusing Detective Ames of dishonesty in 

response to Ames' motion for attorney's fees and costs.9 Ames appeared 

separately to ensure disclosure of an exculpatory e-mail exchange wherein 

Ames affirmed Dalsing could not be seen in the photograph that formed 

the basis for the criminal charge supporting her arrest. The prosecutor's 

office refused to disclose Ames' e-mail in both the criminal and civil 

7 CP 1727-1728; App. C. 
8 Op. at 3. Dalsing recently voluntarily dismissed her claims due to the emotional costs 
associated with civil litigation. 
9 CP at 577 
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proceedings despite the criminal deputy's admission that it was bona fide 

"Brady" material.IO The Dalsing court sanctioned the prosecutor's office 

for violating the discovery rules. 11 

Richmond testified in Dalsing that he never received the the e-mail 

to disclose and generally claimed he did not use words like "exculpatory" 

that Ames said Richmond did use when they discussed the e-mai1. 12 Later 

in this case Richmond changed his testimony filing a second declaration 

that ultimately admitted Richmond had received the e-mail. 13 At the same 

time, Richmond maintained his recollection of the timing and content of 

their conversation was not exactly word for word as Ames described. The 

prosecutor's office did not treat Richmond's clarifying declaration as 

"Brady" material.I4 

10 Dalsing v. Pierce County, 189 Wn. App. 1024 (2015) 

II /d. 

12 CP 576 - 582 (Richmond 7117113 Dec. in Dalsing), App. B: "Mr. Ames' reply 
declaration in support of his motion to compel payment of his attorney's fees and costs 
contains false assertions made under oath about Mr. Ames' interactions with the 
Prosecutor's office .... Mr. Ames falsely states he turned over to me County e-mails that 
would clear his name and his department. Notably Richmond had a different impression 
of Ames' credibility earlier in the Dalsing case: CP 632, RP 5/8113 "When Ms. Mell 
called me, she said someone's not telling the truth. And I said I know Mr. Ames said the 
truth, and I always felt that way. So that's my view of it." 
13 App. D (Richmond 5/12114 Dec. in Ames) ("Contrary to petitioner's repeated claims in 
the current case, I have never denied receiving the June 9, 2011, email. Instead, I stated 
that it was not given to me at the October 12, 2012 meeting.") Ames never testified that 
he gave the email to Richmond at the October 12, 2012 meeting. Ames emailed it to 
Richmond on October 18, 2012. See App C. and CP 1830 - 32. 

14 App. D (Richmond 5112/14 Dec. in Ames) Not treated as PIE. (Penner 8/12/14 PIE 
Ltr) App. B 
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The prosecutor's office generated two additional declarations from 

criminal prosecutors implicated in Dalsing's wrongful incarceration that 

the prosecutor's office filed in this case. 15 Similar to Richmond they 

generally declared Ames dishonest based on their 2014 recollections of 

their 2011 conversation with Ames about reinvestigating Dalsing's 

computers without probable cause, a conversation that Ames described in 

2013 to a whistleblower investigator.16 Apparently in 2014 these deputies 

scrutinized Ames' 2013 statement to prepare declarations to discredit his 

testimony in Dalsing, but the declarations were filed in this case in May of 

2014 after Ames retired early. The criminal deputies did not describe how 

their memories differed; they simply said Ames was not truthfu1. 17 

Neither declaration served any legitimate purpose when filed in these 

proceedings because the trial court had already dismissed the complaint. 

In August 2014, the prosecutor's office notified Ames that these deputies 

IS App. B. Kooiman and Lewis Decs. 
16 App B (Coopersmith Interview Transcript of Ames) 
17 App. B Kooiman and Lewis similarly generally declare Ames dishonest without 
specifics or explanation: "On May 9, 2014, I reviewed a transcript of an interview 
betweeen Mike Ames and Jeffrey Coopersmith that was recorded on April 1, 2013. 
During the course of the interview, Mike Ames talks about a meeting he had with me and 
Deputy Prosecutor Lori Kooiman on June 13,2011, regarding the Dalsing case. During 
the course of the interview, Ames made many false statements about his interactions with 
Lori Kooiman and me." 
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declarations and Ames' whistleblower statement were potential 

impeachment evidence. IS 

Unfounded Whistleblower Investigation Report 

In 2013, Pierce County hired attorney Jeffrey Coopersmith to 

investigate Ames' reports of prosecutor interference in Sheriff's 

department matters as a whistleblower complaint. 19 Lindquist knew 

Coopersmith from Seattle where they both ran for an open state house seat 

in 1994. zo Neither disclosed this connection when Ames was interviewed. 

Lindquist did not allow Coopersmith to record Lindquist's interview.21 

Coopersmith ordered Ames to provide a recorded statement under threat of 

termination.22 The prosecutor's office took the transcript to use as 

"Brady" material a year after Ames gave it after he had already testified in 

various criminal matters.23 The prosecutor's office targeted the part of the 

statement that pertained to Ames' explanation of his previously mentioned 

2011 meeting with the two deputy prosecutors when they pressured him to 

1s App. B. (Penner 8112114 PIE Ltr) 
19 App. 8 (Coopersmith Report) and Ames' request for an outside investigation. CP 340-
342, 346- 367. 
20 See, September 1994 Primary Elections Search Results for State Representative 
District #36 Position #2. http://www.sos.wa.gov/elections/results_report.aspx? 
e= 14&c=&c2=&t=&t2=4&p=&p2=&y= 
21 CP 1838- 1843 (Coopersmith notes from Lindquist interview) 

22 App. B and CP 102. 
23 App. 8 (Penner 08/12/4 PIE Ltr.) 
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reinvestigate the Dalsing computers after the office knew they held 

Dalsing on erroneous charges. Coopersmith considered Ames' statement 

about the Dalsing matter to be beyond the scope of his investigation, so he 

did not investigate the subject. 24 The two deputy prosecutors at the 

meeting with Ames were never questioned. 

The matters Coopersmith did investigate pertained to the handling 

of a teacher involved school bullying incident at Kopachuck Middle 

School in Gig Harbor. Lindquist published a three page press release with 

a comment critical of Ames' connection to the student's attomey.25 Ames 

used the same private attorney to amicably settle an overtime issue the 

involved higher ranking officials would have preferred to handle in 

house.26 Based solely on this connection, Lindquist had Ames' e-mails 

searched for evidence of "possible misconduct"Y Lindquist found 

nothing. 28 Coopersmith found Ames acted in "good faith" and that he 

"expertly recovered the evidence and wrote a thorough report."29 

24 CP 485 (Coopersmith Report) 
25 CP 369- 371. "To complicate matters, the civil attorney reported the matter to a PCSD 
detective who had been represented by that same attorney on an unrelated matter." 
26 CP 398 

27 CP 465-467, CP 1833-34 
28 CP 361: Chief Adamson to Lindquist 10112/12: "IT didn't find any email between 
Ames and Joan Mel!. .. Just fyi. Please don't forward this. Rick." 
29 CP 469 
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Coopersmith offered his opinion that Lindquist's conduct was not 

"improper governmental action" under the whistleblower statutory 

definition in his May 2013 final report.30 Several months later in 

September 2013 again after Ames had testified in other matters, the 

prosecutor's office notified Ames that the Coopersmith report was 

potential impeachment evidence, and that Ames was now for the first time 

a "Brady" officer, a label commonly recognized as the "scarlet letter" of 

law enforcement because it connotes dishonesty and suggests there is 

evidence to impugn the officer's credibility. The rationale provided was 

that Coopersmith found "no evidence" to support Ames' allegations of 

misconduct.31 The prosecutor's limited highlight was deceptive because 

Coopersmith actually found that Lindquist did issue a critical press release 

and did have Ames' e-mail searched. Coopersmith simply did not share 

Ames' opinion that this conduct was improper. Coopersmith does not 

discredit Ames as dishonest anywhere in his report. 

The irony of this case is that the prosecutor's office labeled Ames a 

"Brady" officer to discredit him because the prosecutors had failed to 

fulfill their "Brady" duties to Dalsing, which exposed them to liability. 

3° CP 484 

3! CP 142, App. B 
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Basic fundamental principles of fairness dictate further review to reconcile 

this power shift that gives prosecutors dangerous control over the 

testimony to be presented in criminal proceedings. Law enforcement 

officers, unlike other professionals, apparently have no way to protect 

their most valuable asset, which is their credibility, other than to remain 

silent even when an officer knows the prosecutor is withholding 

exculpatory evidence or is otherwise engaged in questionable conduct. 

Ames argued and the dissent agreed that this case presents an issue of 

major public importance in regards to the integrity of the criminal justice 

system.32 Indeed it does, the ramifications impact others who likely would 

not make the same choices Ames made to disclose exculpatory evidence 

over the prosecutor's objections. The multiple declarations from legal 

scholars, the Sheriff's Guild, and lawyers filed in support of Ames shows 

no one practicing in this community wants that outcome. 33 Lindquist 

32 Br. of Appellant at 33. 
33 CP 1342 - 1346 (Attny James Cline), 1347-1402 (Prof. John Strait), 1296-1290 
(Sheriff's Guild Det. Lloyd Bird), 1300 -1304 (Attny Thomas Nast), 1405-1410 (Attny 
Bryan Hershman), 2056-2058 (Prof. David Boerner), 1478 - 1479 (Attny Rodney Ray), 
1411-1413 (Attny Mary Robnett), 1423 - 1425 (Attny Angela Lindsay), 1414-1416 
(Attny Eric Trujillo), 1417- 1419 (Attny Ephraim Benjamin), 1420- 1422 (Attny Paul 
Landry), 1426- 1428 (Attny Joseph Cutter), 1429- 1431 (Attny Ryan Anderson), 1432-
1434 (Attny John O'Connor), 1435 - 1437 (Attny Martin Duenhoelter), 1438 - 1440 
(Attny Mary Ann Dire), 1441 - 1443 (Attny George Kelley), 1444- 1446 (Attny John 
Meske), 1447- 1449 (Attny Kenneth Gormly), 1450- 1452 (Attny Donald Powell), 1456 
- 1458 (Attny John Cain), 1459- 1461 (Attny Brian Meikle), 1462- 1464 (Attny Douglas 
Sulkosky), 1465 - 1467 (Attny Heather Bliss), 1468 - 1470 (Attny Harry Steinmetz), 
1471 - 1473 (Attny Gary Clower), 1474- 1475 (Attny John Miller), 1476- 1477 (Attny 
Peter Kram) 
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referred to these declarants as the "confederacy of dunces", which led to 

two top deputy prosecutors from Pierce County filing whistleblower 

complaints against the prosecutor, and others filing bar complaints that are 

still pending, and a campaign to Recall Mark Lindquist. The media has 

followed this case, keeping the public apprised of the substantial costs 

associated with the prosecutor's actions.34 This case is of broad public 

importance in the community. The Supreme Court should accept review 

to restore balanced justice to Pierce County. 

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

(1) RAP 13.4(b)(4) Substantial Public Interest: 

The Supreme Court should review the Court of Appeals' split 

published opinion because fair and impartial criminal justice depends 

upon a balanced working relationship between the Sheriff's Department 

and Prosecutor's Office that the majority opinion perpetually skews when 

allowing the prosecutor's office to discredit an honest sheriff's department 

detective using fabricated "Brady" material for improper reasons with 

impunity. A name clearing hearing opportunity is essential to protect the 

value of a state witness like Detective Ames whose credibility the County 

34 App. F (Media Coverage - "$53!, 762 to defend the Dalsing case" plus several hundred 
thousand on these proceedings that has involved three outside law firms.) 

Page 11 of20 



otherwise insures through well established civil service and internal affairs 

due process protocols. Here those protections are ignored in favor of 

criminal defendants getting information from prosecutors even when the 

prosecutors know the information is false because the prosecutors 

fabricated it for self-serving and retaliatory reasons. Even the Division II 

panel was conflicted as to this outcome, which this court should reconcile. 

The dissent aptly pointed out this case presents questions of major public 

importance: "Even without reaching into the hypothetical, the record 

before us is unmistakably an overture of interests more profound than 

those of the individual players."35 The majority erred when it presumed 

good faith conduct by the prosecutor in contravention to CR 12(b)(6) as 

explained by the dissent: 

"Because the declaratory judgment action was dismissed 
under CR 12(b )( 6), no judicial determination of the facts 
necessary to resolve this claim has occurred. The evidence 
we have before us, summarized here and in the majority 
opinion, would be consistent with a determination that the 
prosecutor acted entirely in good faith in keeping with his 
duty under Brady ... and Giglio, .. . to disclose potential 
impeachment evidence. The evidence could also be 
consistent with the view that the disclosures were a misuse 
of the prosecutor's duties and authority in an attempt to 
retaliate against Ames for his actions in the Dalsing case .... 
Given the context and timing . . . one cannot reasonably 
conclude that Ames can prove no set of facts, consistent 

35 Dissent at 26. 
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with his petition, which would justify a conclusion that these 
disclosures did not include legitimate potential impeachment 
evidence. Especially where, as here, the documents that 
would be truly impeaching were prepared by the 
prosecutor's office, one may reasonably conceive of 
hypothetical circumstances under which these disclosures 
might not be compelled by the case law.. .. It must be 
stressed, and stressed again, that hypothesizing is a far 
distant exercise from determining the truth. . .. the public 
interest would be enhanced by reviewing the case ... "36 

The Supreme Court should accept review to correct the error on matters of 

substantial public importance. 

(2) RAP 13.4 (b)(3) Significant Question of Law Under the 
Constitution: 

The majority presumed the rights of criminal defendants are 

paramount to the rights of law enforcement to defend their honor and 

professional reputation. The court weighed a question of major public 

importance of constitutional significance, specifically a criminal 

defendant's right to a fair trial against a law enforcement officer's 1st 

Amendment rights of petition to access the courts and 14th Amendment 

procedural and substantive due process rights to a writ to arrest further 

harm to his career, yet the majority found no major public interest. Ames 

disagrees on the presumption and the holding, and points to the dissent's 

explanation that illegitimate potential impeachment evidence does not 

36 Bjorgen dissent at 28 and 31. 
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affect a prosecutor's duty to disclose. Ames merely sought a name 

clearing hearing, a fundamental right he would be entitled to under 

departmental protocols if he had been wrongfully accused of dishonesty 

by the Sheriff's department. Internal affairs never opened an investigation 

into the prosecutor's allegations of dishonesty against Ames. The fact that 

a department outside the Sheriff's department was Ames' accuser should 

not be an absolute barrier to clearing his good name. 

The United States Supreme Court has long-recognized that a 

public sector employee has a constitutionally-based liberty interest in 

clearing his name when stigmatizing information is publicly 

disclosed. 37 Failure to provide a "name-clearing" hearing in such 

circumstances is a violation of the Fourteenth Amendment's due process 

clause.38 The stigmatizing "Brady" process contributed to Ames' 

constructive discharge, which requires procedural protections to date not 

afforded Detective Ames. 

"The requirements of procedural due process apply only to the 

deprivation of interests encompassed by the Fourteenth Amendment's 

37 See Bd. of Regents v. Roth, 408 U.S. 564, 569-70 (1972) and Cleveland Bd. of Educ., v. 
Loudermill, 470 U.S. 532, 542 (1985) 
38 See id.; see also Cox v. Roskelley, 359 F.3d 1105, Ill 0 (9th Cir. 2004) (where public 
employer placed stigmatizing information in employee's personnel file, "[t]he lack of an 
opportunity for a name-clearing hearing violated his due process rights.").

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