RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

No. 93428-2

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MICHAEL AMES,

Appellant/Cross-Respondent,

v.

PIERCE COUNTY, By and Through, PIERCE COUNTY PROSECUTING ATTORNEY MARK LINDQUIST,

Respondent/Cross-Appellant.

# PIERCE COUNTY'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Philip A. Talmadge, WSBA #6973 Talmadge/Fitzpatrick/Tribe 2775 Harbor Avenue SW 3rd Floor, Suite C Seattle, WA 98126 (206) 574-6661

Attorneys for Respondent Pierce County

#

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

514 U.S. at 437-40.<sup>14</sup> The prosecutor's duty is non-delegable and the courts are not entitled to "second guess" such a decision.<sup>15</sup> A prosecutor's duty is not confined to disclosure of *actually* impeaching or exculpatory evidence, she/he must disclose any *potentially* impeaching or exculpatory evidence. *Sehad v. Ryan*, 671 F.3d 708, 715 (9th Cir. 2011).

Thus, as the Court of Appeals noted, op. at 13-14, the Office here was under a constitutional imperative to disclose PIE. Ames' sworn statements in his *Dalsing* declarations were reviewed by the Office and were found to be directly contradicted by DPA Richmond's declaration in that case. Ames' complaints against the Sheriff's Department and the Office were reviewed by attorney Coopersmith and also found to be entirely meritless. CP 975-1012. Because a trial court might conclude that such material could be used to impeach Ames' testimony if he were called as a witness for the State, the Office had a constitutional duty to disclose the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> See, e.g., United States v. Olsen, 704 F.3d 1172, 1183 n.3 (9th Cir. 2013), cert. den., 134 S. Ct. 2711 (2014) (Prosecutors should not limit the disclosure of PIE based upon their predictions of materiality "because it is just too difficult to analyze before trial whether particular evidence will ultimately prove to be 'material' after trial."). Further, the determination of whether PIE exists and must be disclosed falls within the *absolute discretion of the prosecutor. Broam v. Bogan*, 320 F.3d 1023, 1030 (9th Cir. 2003). Indeed, evaluating and determining whether to disclose such information is clearly part of the presentation of the State's case, entitling the prosecutor to absolute immunity for its decision whether to turn over such evidence. Id. This is so because the presentation of such information is so related to the prosecutor's preparation to prosecute. Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> In re Brown, 17 Cal.4th 873, 881, 952 P.2d 715, *cert. denied*, 525 U.S. 978 (1998); *United States v. Bland*, 517 F.3d 930, 935 (7th Cir. 2008) (a court is under no general independent duty to review government files to determine PIE material).

materials as PIE. To have failed to provide such materials in *George* would have violated George's due process rights, or those of any other criminal defendants in whose cases Ames might testify.

### (2) <u>Ames Was Not Entitled to a Writ of Prohibition</u>

The Court of Appeals, like the trial court, CP 771-73, determined that Ames was not entitled to a writ of prohibition because he could not establish that the Office acted outside its jurisdiction with regard to either the *Dalsing* declarations or the Coopersmith Report. Op. at 14-18.<sup>16</sup> Although he references the issue, pet. at 2, Ames neglects to offer *any argument* on this question as required by RAP 13.4(c)(5). He has waived the issue.<sup>17</sup>

The Court of Appeals' writ decision was amply supported in any event. A writ of prohibition "arrests the proceedings of any tribunal, corporation, board or person when such proceedings are without or in excess of the jurisdiction of such tribunal, corporation, board or person."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> The Court of Appeals unanimously agreed on this point.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> By failing to comply with RAP 13.4(c)(7), Ames waived this issue because he did not "raise" it within the meaning of RAP 13.7(b) on this Court's scope of review. Clearly, the failure to set out an issue in the statement of issues, required by RAP 13.4(c)(5), means a party has not "raised" an issue, and the issue may not be raised for the first time in subsequent supplemental briefing. *State v. Korum*, 157 Wn.2d 614, 623-25, 141 P.3d 13 (2006) (The petitioner there also failed to present argument on the issue in its petition as required by RAP 13.4(c)(7). 157 Wn.2d at 624). It is no different if a party mentions an issue but then fails to address as is required by RAP 13.4(c)(7); it must be disregarded. *In re Detention of A.S.*, 138 Wn.2d 898, 922 n.10, 982 P.2d 1156 (1999) (in the absence of argument on an issue in a petition for review, Court will not consider the argument).

RCW 7.16.290. In cases not cited by Ames in his petition, but addressed by the Court of Appeals, op. at 9, this Court has characterized the writ as a "drastic measure," which is to be issued *only* when two conditions are met: (1) the absence or excess of jurisdiction, and (2) absence of a plain, speedy, and adequate remedy in the course of legal procedure. *Skagit County Public Hospital Dist. No. 304 v. Skagit County Public Hospital Dist. No. 1,* 177 Wn.2d 718, 722, 305 P.3d 1079 (2013). "The absence of either one precludes the issuance of the writ." *Kreidler v. Eikenberry*, 111 Wn.2d 828, 838, 766 P.2d 438 (1989).

The law on writs of prohibition is clear and supports the conclusion of the Court of Appeals, op. at 8-15, that Ames cannot prove the Office acted in excess of its jurisdiction in disclosing the PIE materials in *George*, given the Office's broad constitutional obligation to disclose PIE to criminal defendants. Review is not merited on this issue. RAP 13.4(b).

## $(3) \qquad \underline{\text{Ames Had No Right to Declaratory Relief}^{18}}$

RCW 7.24 affords parties the opportunity to secure declaratory relief in appropriate controversies, but parties must still comply with the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Should this Court grant review (which it should not), the County reserves the right to raise the procedural defects in Ames' request for declaratory relief as another basis for dismissing his action. *Lewis River Golf, Inc. v. O.M. Scott & Sons*, 120 Wn.2d 712, 725, 845 P.2d 987 (1993). Ames failed to join necessary parties under CR 19 and sued the incorrect party, the County, when criminal actions are brought in the State's name. Br. of Resp't at 25-26.

procedural requirements of the statute and they must demonstrate standing to claim declaratory relief. Ames did neither below, as the trial court correctly observed, CP 773-75, and the Court of Appeals agreed. Op. at 18-21.

# (a) <u>Ames Lacked Standing to Obtain Declaratory Relief</u> for a Non-Justiciable Controversy

The Court of Appeals,<sup>19</sup> like the trial court, faithfully applied this Court's principles to determine that Ames is not entitled to declaratory relief. His request for a declaration that his statements are "truthful" and that they are "not properly characterized" is precisely the type of amorphous relief that is not justiciable in a declaratory judgment action.

Ames does not squarely address any of the authority cited in the Court of Appeals opinion on standing (op. at 18-19) *anywhere* in his petition, thereby waiving the issue.<sup>20</sup> Again, the Court of Appeals decision is amply supported. This Court has repeatedly noted that a justiciable controversy under RCW 7.24 requires:

(1)... an actual, present and existing dispute, or the mature seeds of one, as distinguished from a possible, dormant, hypothetical, speculative, or moot disagreement, (2) between parties having genuine and opposing interest, (3) which involves interests that must be direct and substantial, rather than potential, theoretical, abstract or academic, and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> The Court of Appeals unanimously agreed on this point.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> *See* n.17, *supra*.

(4) a judicial determination of which will be final and conclusive.

*To-Ro Trade Shows v. Collins*, 144 Wn.2d 403, 411, 27 P.3d 1149 (2001); *League of Education Voters v. State*, 176 Wn.2d 808, 816, 295 P.3d 743 (2013); *Lewis County v. State*, 178 Wn. App. 431, 437, 315 P.3d 550 (2013), *review denied*, 180 Wn.2d 1010 (2014). Ames cannot meet these standing requirements.

The Court of Appeals correctly observed, op. at 19-21, that no *present* controversy exists and any decision would not be final or conclusive.<sup>21</sup> Apart from *George*, where Ames' counsel did not object to disclosure and effectively *conceded* the PIE disclosure by the State there was proper, Ames' concerns essentially only pertain to *future* cases and do not involve a *present* controversy. *Walker v. Munro*, 124 Wn.2d 402, 412, 879 P.2d 920 (1994) (controversy over effect of initiative that was not yet in effect not justiciable). As Ames has retired, he will not likely be a future witness for the State. Moreover, the issue here is not one upon which a judgment could effectively operate because Ames seeks to dictate to other courts and juries – present and future – that some unidentified "statements"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> The proceedings at issue are also not genuinely adversarial in character. In fact, it is plainly in the State's interest to *uphold* Ames' testimony in its criminal prosecutions, and the Office would vigorously seek to do so. Because disclosure of PIE does not reflect a conclusion that Ames committed misconduct or that he is not credible as witness, no real controversy is at issue here; only a theoretical right or interest, at most, is present.

by him are truthful; he apparently seeks to bar prosecutors from ever treating the materials at issue here as PIE and barring their use by criminal defendants for impeachment, and stating that he must be deemed truthful whenever he testifies in criminal matters for the State. Neither RCW 7.24.010 nor any other law provides such extraordinary and unconstitutional relief. No authority supports a declaratory action stating for all time and in all cases that Ames is truthful. RCW 7.24.060 (refusal of declaration where judgment would not terminate controversy).<sup>22</sup>

Review on the issue of Ames' UDJA standing is not merited. RAP 13.4(b).<sup>23</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> As the trial court noted, any one-time determination in a particular case by a particular court that Ames was or was not truthful does not bind another court in a criminal case in which Ames is called as a witness for the State. CP 774. The courts lacked the ability to provide Ames the relief he sought. Op. at 20-21.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Ames' assertion that a declaratory judgment action could rule invariably that he was "truthful" particularly misses the point with respect to the Coopersmith Report. This Report was PIE because it described a detective who reached conclusions and made accusations without evidence. In his complaint that initiated Coopersmith's investigation, Ames asserted that a specific criminal investigation into child abuse was sabotaged in order to aid a high school friend of a detective; he alleged "officers at the executive command level" of the Sheriff's Department along with executive level officers of the Office "conspired to discredit the legitimacy of the criminal complaint filed by" the victim's parents. CP 976-77. After an extensive, thorough independent investigation, CP 977-78, Coopersmith found "there is no merit to Det. Ames' current allegations," rejecting any basis for claims of corruption or retaliation against Ames. CP 1011. Critically, Coopersmith noted the very weak basis for Ames' allegation of "corruption." CP 1002. Ames was a detective in the Sheriff's Department, and had the authority to arrest individuals and forward cases to the Office for charging; the Coopersmith Report documented that he could jump to baseless conclusions and therefore constituted PIE because it called into serious question Ames' skills and judgment as a detective. The Report also documented contradictory statements by Ames in his interview with Coopersmith. See op. at 15-17.

# (b) <u>The Present Case Is Not One of Public Importance</u>

The Court of Appeals majority rejected Ames' argument that notwithstanding his inability to meet the test established by this Court for UDJA standing, he was nonetheless entitled to declaratory relief because this case is one of "public importance." Op. at 21-25.<sup>24</sup> But review is not merited in this case, despite the Court of Appeals dissent, op. at 29-35,<sup>25</sup> because the Court of Appeals majority correctly applied this Court's decisions on the public question exception to UDJA standing requirements and the issues in this case, unique to Ames, do not qualify as issues of "public importance" merely because public officials are involved. RAP 13.4(b).

This Court has excused its strict standing rules for declaratory relief in certain critically important public controversies, but this exception is to be *rarely* applied and only if the public's interest is "overwhelming." *To*-

 $<sup>^{24}</sup>$  Ames only raised this issue below in passing in response to the County's CR 12(b)(6) motion. CP 694. He actually made the argument in his pleadings on reconsideration of the trial court's CR 11 order, as attested to by his citation to the tardy declarations he adduced on reconsideration. Br. of Appellant at 34. Moreover, as has been typical of Ames' conduct in this case, his counsel cited what is now his principal authority for his public importance argument for standing belatedly so that the County could not read the case, nor properly respond to it. RP (7/10/14):9-11, 15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> The dissent's opinion falls prey to Ames' contention that merely because public officials are involved, the issue is one of "public interest." Op. at 33. This Court has rejected such an argument as a too simplistic basis upon which to excuse a party from meeting UDJA standing and ripeness imperatives. Such a circumvention of this Court's UDJA standing jurisprudence will invite courts to entangle themselves in any public controversy without appropriate restraint.

*Ro Trade Shows*, 144 Wn.2d at 413. For example, this Court in *Wash*. *Natural Gas Co. v. Public Utility Dist. No. 1 of Snohomish County*, 77 Wn.2d. 94, 96, 459 P.2d 633 (1969) and *Vovos v. Grant*, 87 Wn.2d 697, 555 P.2d 1343 (1976), both extraordinary writ cases, indicated that standing requirements could be relaxed "where a controversy is of serious public importance and immediately affects substantial segments of the population and its outcome will have a direct bearing on the commerce, finance, labor, industry or agriculture generally...." *Id.* at 701. As the Court of Appeals majority noted, op. at 22, major public issues must be at stake to justify this exception to UDJA standing.<sup>26</sup> Ames did not meet this test, and *he fails to even address* the test or this Court's decisions anywhere in his petition. Ames' request is one that necessarily pertains *to him* and not the criminal justice system generally, particularly given the *Brady* principles at issue here. Op. at 22-25.<sup>27</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> This exception is not a justification to routinely circumvent the requirements of personal or representational standing. This Court has rejected this exception to general standing requirements in numerous instances even where significant public issues are present. *E.g., Walker*, 124 Wn.2d at 414-26 (rejecting application of exception to allow challenge to initiative's constitutionality); *League of Education Voters*, 176 Wn.2d at 820 (same, noting that exception was also inapplicable where dispute was not ripe). *See also, Bercier v. Kiga*, 127 Wn. App. 809, 822, 103 P.3d 232 (2004), *review denied*, 155 Wn.2d 1015 (2005) (dispute over tobacco taxation by tribe as to member of another tribe not an issue of major public importance). *Lewis County*, 178 Wn. App. at 439-41 (County's dispute with State over funding of civil liability for acts of judicial branch officers was not one of major public importance; the financial dispute between the County and State did not implicate the public's interest). Ames neglects to address *any* of these cases in his petition.

 $<sup>^{27}</sup>$  Ultimately, the real public importance of the case has little to do with Ames and more to do with the public policy of *Brady*, as the trial court concluded: "Ames alleges

The principal thrust of Ames' argument seems to be that he had a "constitutional" right to a hearing, a position that is ultimately negated here by the facts. Pet. at 13-19.<sup>28</sup> But again, this assertion is far too simplistic. This Court has rejected similar constitutionally-driven arguments in cases like *Walker* and *League of Education Voters* where the issue is not ripe and the claim is hypothetical, as here.<sup>29</sup>

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